WHO CONSULTATION ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF A COMPREHENSIVE APPROACH FOR THE PREVENTION AND CONTROL OF CHRONIC RESPIRATORY DISEASES

11 – 13 January 2001, Geneva



World Health Organization

Management of Noncommunicable Diseases Department Chronic Respiratory Diseases and Arthritis

© World Health Organization [2001]

"This document is not a formal publication of the World Health Organization (WHO), and all rights are reserved by the Organization. The document may, however, be freely reviewed, abstracted, reproduced or translated, in part or in whole, but not for sale or for use in conjunction with commercial purposes.

"The views expressed in documents by named authors are solely the responsibility of those authors."

Report of the

WHO CONSULTATION ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF A COMPREHENSIVE APPROACH FOR THE PREVENTION AND CONTROL OF CHRONIC RESPIRATORY DISEASES

11-13 January 2001, Geneva

CONTENTS

I. EAECULIVE SUIVINAR I	1.	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
-------------------------	----	-------------------

- 2. BACKGROUND
- 3. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS
- 4. ELECTION OF CHAIRPERSONS
- 5. GLOBAL BURDEN OF DISEASE
- 6. CURRENT TRENDS IN MAJOR RESPIRATORY DISEASES
- 7. CURRENT WHO ACTIVITIES AND INITIATIVES FOR LUNG HEALTH
- 8. GOVERNMENTAL AND NON GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS
- 9. IMPLEMENTATION AND INTEGRATION OF CHRONIC RESPIRATORY DISEASE HEALTH PROGRAMMES INTO THE HEALTH CARE SYSTEM
- 10. BARRIERS TO BETTER GLOBAL RESPIRATORY HEALTH
- 11. GAPS, RELEVANCE AND INTEGRATING DIFFERENT GUIDELINES
- 12. PREVENTION, OUTCOMES AND HEALTH CARE MODELS
- 13. CHANGING BEHAVIOUR AND DRUG AVAILABILITY
- 14. EVALUATION
- 15. CONCLUSIONS
- 16. THE NEXT STEPS TO AN ACTION PLAN
- ANNEX A LIST OF PARTICIPANTS
- ANNEX B SMALL WORKING GROUPS
- ANNEX C THE CHALLENGE FOR RESPIRATORY SPECIALISTS
- ANNEX D EVIDENCE BASED GUIDELINES INTEGRATION, TRAINING & EVALUATION



1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Chronic Respiratory Diseases (CRD) which include asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease comprise a major cause of death and disability for all age groups and regions in the world. In the absence of effective interventions, risk factors such as smoking, air pollution, allergen exposure, severe childhood respiratory infection and TB are expected to cause a further rise in the magnitude of these health problems in the coming years particularly in developing countries. Evidence also indicates that in many countries people with common CRD have no access to acceptable standards of health care; health systems may also provide inappropriate care due to misdiagnosis arising from respiratory symptoms which are often common for acute and chronic illnesses. This leads to overuse of drugs (especially antibiotics), depleting vital resources in countries where such resources are already scarce.

There is a pressing need for Member States to intensify efforts for the prevention and control of CRD. The global strategy for NCD prevention and control identifies chronic respiratory conditions as one of the four major priorities for future action. To discuss the current situation and discuss strategies for action, a WHO meeting of experts was convened in January 2001. The meeting first reviewed current WHO initiatives in the area of CRD. Next, major barriers to better global respiratory health were identified including poverty, common risk factors, poor infrastructure, air pollution, lack of hard data on morbidity and mortality, lack of awareness about CRD, and inadequate access to essential drugs. Strategies for lung health were discussed and approaches for prevention, surveillance and management were debated. Essential elements of prevention include tobacco cessation, immunization, case management of infectious diseases, better nutrition, and control of indoor and outdoor air pollution.

The health care structure is a key element of the success of CRD prevention and control programme. Strategies discussed include cost-effectiveness of interventions, the role of primary health care in the management of CRD, the potential value of guidelines, and the syndromic approach to management. One of the approaches is a symptom driven algorithm for diagnosis and care of the respiratory patient at the first level of contact with the health system. However, health care should be comprehensive, including all levels of health care providers, patients, third party players and NGO's. In low and middle income countries, the capacity of health professionals who traditionally focus on acute care of communicable respiratory diseases should be expanded to address CRD. Existing management guidelines should be modified and translated into practical recommendations that can be integrated into primary health care in developing countries. Feasible approaches for improving the availability and accessibility of essential diagnostic and therapeutic requirements should be adopted.

The conclusions and recommendations of this report are the basis for a comprehensive strategy for the prevention and control of CRD which is currently being developed by the NMH Cluster in co-ordination with other WHO Clusters.

2. BACKGROUND

Respiratory diseases represent a major cause of death and disability for all age groups and races in the world. Today, almost one-fifth of all deaths are attributable to respiratory illness. Communicable respiratory diseases (tuberculosis, acute respiratory infection, pertussis, diphtheria, measles) and non communicable respiratory diseases (asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, bronchiectasis, cystic fibrosis, obliterative bronchiolitis, sarcoidosis, etc) represent about 20% of the global burden of disease measured in disability-adjusted life years (DALYS). Among developing countries surveyed in 1997-1998, health statistics showed that respiratory symptoms are the first or second most frequent complaint of those visiting out patient services. (WHO/TB/98.257)

The World Health Organization (WHO) has had success in controlling specific respiratory diseases and has a number of initiatives addressing different aspects of lung health. However, a globally coordinated approach is required to integrate these efforts and make more effective use of scarce resources. The overall objective of this consultation was to address issues specific to chronic respiratory diseases and develop a proposal for a comprehensive approach to their prevention and control. The working objectives of the consultation were the following:

- 1. To review WHO's activities in the area of chronic respiratory diseases.
- 2. To outline strategies for the prevention and control of asthma and COPD with special emphasis on the developing countries.
- 3. To discuss a comprehensive approach for lung health that covers the major determinants and risk factors of preventable chronic respiratory diseases.
- 4. To outline an action plan for WHO and identify high priority areas of work and next steps.

3. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS

Dr D. Yach, Executive Director of the Noncommunicable Diseases and Mental Health Cluster, called upon the participants to focus recommendations to create maximum impact on reduction in morbidity and mortality from non communicable respiratory diseases among lower- and middle-income countries. The group was asked to consider the approach under development as a "lung health investment" bearing the following in mind:

- Where can health systems provide leadership, particularly in terms of prevention?
- Which measures would have lifelong benefit, especially for children?
- What are the commonalties in terms of risk, diagnosis, referral and treatment?
- What are the issues related to drugs and technologies for diagnosis and treatment?
- How do we promote compliance and adherence to long term treatment?

4. ELECTION OF CHAIRPERSONS

Dr. Martyn R. Partridge was elected chair of the meeting. Professor Jean Bousquet was elected vice-chair. Professors Sonia Buist and Wan-Cheng Tan were elected rapporteurs. Annex A contains a list of participants. Annex B identifies the composition of the working groups.

5. GLOBAL BURDEN OF DISEASE

Respiratory conditions impose an enormous burden on society. According to the WHO World Health Report 2000, the top five respiratory diseases account for 17.4% of all deaths and 13.3% of all Disability-Adjusted Life Years (DALYs):

	Deaths	<u>DALYs</u>
Respiratory Infections	7.2	6.7
COPD	4.8	2.6
Tuberculosis	3.0	2.3
Trachea/Bronchus/Lung Cancer	2.1	0.8
Asthma	0.3	0.9

So far, estimates of **COPD** have been based primarily on mortality (vital statistics and necropsy studies). Nevertheless, COPD DALYs based on incidence and prevalence rates from 1990 that are adjusted to 2000 mortality rates and applied to 2000 population data show an increase in DALYs across all regions for males and across most regions for females.

The assessment of the burden of **asthma** is also challenging. Even when using the same research protocol, reports on asthma prevalence have shown huge variations within and among countries for teenagers and children. Less variable data was shown in adults. In order to make country-specific estimates of asthma for the Global Burden of Disease and Injury 2000, comparable data is needed.

In conclusion, for both COPD and asthma, additional studies are needed throughout the world that use the same case definition. The inclusion of data on severity distribution would assist in assigning disability.

6. CURRENT TRENDS IN MAJOR RESPIRATORY DISEASES

The Global Burden of Disease project has estimated that Lower Respiratory Tract Infections (LRTI), Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD), Tuberculosis (TB) and Cancer of the Lung are each among the 10 leading causes of death worldwide and that these will all be in the top seven by 2020. By that time LRTIs, COPD and TB will also be in the top seven causes of disability adjusted life years worldwide and cancer of the lung will be the fourth highest cause in the developed world.

The prediction of a deteriorating situation is based largely on the demographic changes that are taking place in the developing world, though changes in schooling, income and tobacco use have also been used in the estimates of the future situation. Studies

undertaken over the last three decades have provided growing evidence of an increase in atopic disease and of sensitization to common allergens, both of which are associated with chronic respiratory disease. Similar trends are now also being recorded in poorer countries, even in countries previously expected to be part of the "very low prevalence" group.

Some studies suggest that birth weight and serious early infections predict both lung function and death from COPD in later life. The combined effects of relatively poor maternal and infant nutrition, a high incidence of LRTIs in early life and an epidemic of smoking would be expected to produce a very poor outcome for respiratory health in the developing countries over the coming decades.

7. CURRENT WHO ACTIVITIES AND INITIATIVES FOR LUNG HEALTH

WHO is currently involved in the following activities or initiatives relevant to chronic lung disease: Further information on each activity is available upon request.

- 7.1 Tobacco Free Initiative
- 7.2 WHO/WAO Activities on the Prevention of Allergy and Asthma
- 7.3 Global Initiative for Asthma (GINA)
- 7.4 Allergic Rhinitis and its Impact on Asthma (ARIA)
- 7.5 WHO Activities on Paediatric Asthma
- 7.6 Global Initiative for Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD)
- 7.7 The WHO Air Quality and Health Activities
- 7.8 Adult Lung Health Initiative (ALHI)

8. GOVERNMENTAL AND NON GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS

Several organizations have been very active in addressing respiratory disease issues. Some have focused on specific research on the fundamental mechanisms of disease or disease epidemiology. Others have specialized in promoting better care through the development and adaptation of management guidelines or in training health professionals, including the development of web-based education programs. Some have provided humanitarian support for disaster relief. All those represented at the meeting expressed interest in developing international partnerships.

9. IMPLEMENTATION AND INTEGRATION OF CHRONIC RESPIRATORY DISEASE HEALTH PROGRAMMES INTO THE HEALTH CARE SYSTEM

A series of presentations from eight countries and regions highlighted common issues that need to be addressed in a comprehensive program. A more complete summary of each

presentation is available upon request. Following are the key themes covered by the presentations:

- 9.1 Iran Criteria for integrating a chronic respiratory disease program into the primary health care system.
- 9.2 The Netherlands Evaluating strategies for introducing asthma/COPD guidelines into primary care.
- 9.3 Africa Region: Barriers to improving respiratory health and proposals for action.
- 9.4 China: Adapting guidelines to local needs.
- 9.5 Malaysia: New emphasis on public health to reduce the burden of chronic respiratory illness
- 9.6 India: Groundwork required to advance improvements in chronic respiratory health.
- 9.7 Asia-Pacific Region: Wide variations in disease burden between countries and the need for better research, particularly on COPD.
- 9.8 U.S.: Differences in prevalence, morbidity and mortality among minority groups may be related to access, exposures, genes, or gene-exposure interactions.

10. BARRIERS TO BETTER GLOBAL RESPIRATORY HEALTH

- 1. **Generic barriers** to better health include poverty, poor education, lack of sanitation, and poor infrastructure.
- 2. Environmental barriers include tobacco smoking, pollution, and poor nutrition.
- 3. In many instances, there is a lack of political will due to the lack of hard data on morbidity and mortality (other illnesses take priority), potential interventions (which are then perceived as ineffective) or the outcomes (which are deemed impossible to monitor).
- 4. Respiratory specialists, required to care for a wide variety of diseases (Annex C), have failed to promote awareness. It was suggested that a symptom-based rather than disease-based approach to education might help improve global respiratory health.
- 5. Unsustainable generalisations across cultures and health care systems may make guidelines impossible to implement. More research is needed to evaluate whether therapeutic trials conducted in high income countries, and resultant recommendations, are equally applicable to low income countries.
- 6. The **organisation of health care services** may have inherent barriers in terms of geography, the type of professional responding and the associated education/training systems, public vs. private care, the tendency for care to be "acute" rather than "routine", and the availability and use of medications.

- 7. **Drug factors** presenting barriers include non-availability due to omission from WHO and/or national essential drug lists or poor supply and distribution infrastructure, cost, cultural attitudes towards drug delivery system (inhalers), and overuse or ineffective use.
- 8. Patient barriers include cultural taboos against those with the disease or a specific treatment, lack of information, underuse of self-management, over-reliance on acute care and the lack of support groups.
- Parallel medicine (traditional healer, alternative healthcare) provision of unproven or ineffective therapies was also cited as a major barrier, particularly in developing countries.
- 10. The growing **HIV epidemic** and the concomitant **tuberculosis epidemic** have set back the hope for better global respiratory health.

11. GAPS, RELEVANCE AND INTEGRATING DIFFERENT GUIDELINES (Working Group)

11.1 Gaps in guidelines

The working group identified the following gaps:

- 1. Lack of patient oriented guidelines.
- 2. Lack of cost effectiveness studies relevant to local settings included in the resource documents on which practice guidelines are then based.
- 3. Lack of dissemination strategies.
- 4. Integration of different but related global guidelines is needed.
- 5. Methodology Gaps:
 - Multidisciplinary development groups (scientists, general practitioners, nurses, economists, specialists, etc.),
 - Literature search and evidence base for guidelines,
 - Integration of presently existing guidelines,
 - Pilot testing of guidelines,
 - Clearly identify target audience of guidelines,
 - Clearly identify the outcome to be achieved by the guidelines,
 - Assess outcomes following implementation, and
 - Provide for revision and update of guidelines.

11.2 Relevance of guidelines in developing countries

The practicalities of implementing "best practice" standards of care at the local setting, particularly in developing countries, highlight difficulties:

- 1. The disease burden is often poorly known; studies should be undertaken to assess the magnitude of the problem.
- 2. The disease burden and health priorities differ from one locality to another.

- 3. Accessibility to and availability of all the components called for in implementing best practice differ.
- 4. The use of single disease guidelines becomes impractical when confronted with a heavy daily workload.
- 5. Health care system design differs from one locality to another:
 - Health care financing may be out-of-pocket or prepaid, and may be managed by public sector, private for-profit or private non-profit institutions.
 - Health worker education and follow-up training, and subsequently the care they are capable of providing, varies substantially.

11.3 What are the prospects of merging all respiratory guidelines into one document?

It is not necessarily desirable to merge all guidelines, as they are extremely comprehensive and serve as reference documents. However, it is feasible and indeed, necessary to merge key elements of each guidelines document into an algorithm for use at the first point of a respiratory patient's contact with health services. WHO's role in guideline development/revision, integration into a usable algorithm, and ensuring better global care includes the following functions:

- 1. Co-ordination of standardisation bringing global partners together to determine "best practice" for a particular disease entity and producing a resource document.
- 2. Integration of master documents into practice guidelines by bringing together multidisciplinary groups.
- 3. Proposal and co-ordination of research studies for cost effectiveness analysis, guidelines, outcome evaluation, etc.
- 4. Proposing processes to adapt guidelines to country specific contexts.
- 5. Updating of guidelines.
- 6. Coordination of the development, validation, and dissemination of an algorithm to ensure proper differential diagnosis, directing health services providers to the appropriate practice guideline.
- 7. Assessment and surveillance of disease burdens.
- 8. Putting a disease on the political agenda.
- 9. Increasing affordability, availability and accessibility to essential drugs and diagnostic tools for health problems of global importance.

12. PREVENTION, OUTCOMES AND HEALTH CARE MODELS (Working Group)

12.1 What preventive strategies can be used for chronic respiratory disease at the primary health care level?

Direct relevance and delivery: Care providers can implement preventive measures directly through contact with patients and other healthcare providers. Useful measures include: Tobacco cessation, immunisation – the expanded programme on immunisations (EPI) and others, and case management of infectious diseases – especially acute lower respiratory infection in children and tuberculosis which are risk factors for later chronic respiratory disease.

Indoor biomass combustion, a form of air pollution, has been associated with chronic lung disease. Alternative cooking/heating technologies and ventilation systems exist. Promotion of these measures needs to be reviewed, tested and documented.

Advocacy: It is the responsibility of the healthcare community to influence areas normally outside of the realm of primary healthcare through advocacy. Health professionals are generally respected in communities, and by bringing attention to certain problem areas, they may be able to bring about other preventive measures in the areas of: tobacco control, indoor air pollution, outdoor air pollution, occupational pollution, and nutrition.

12.2 What outcomes can be evaluated?

Outcomes identify disease incidence or prevalence. Over time, they can determine trends influenced by environment, behaviour, or treatment. Those that can be evaluated include:

- Cause-specific death rates based on certificates will vary in accuracy but provide a
 relatively cheap method of monitoring trends in serious diseases. In some areas, only
 broad categories of disease can be monitored.
- Surveys can be used to assess **risk factor prevalence**, the **burden of disease** and **quality of care**. These might be a gold standard for monitoring health and health care, but they are expensive and will require financial and technical support in many parts of the world.
- Audits of **hospital activity** may be used to obtain partial information much more cheaply.

Processes that can be assessed, in conjunction with other information, to monitor implementation of policies include:

- Steroid use (or use of recommended alternatives) as a marker of appropriate treatment of asthma.
- Antibiotic use (particularly the use of new antibiotics) as a marker of inappropriate medication.

Elements of **health care structure** can also be monitored to evaluate the potential for good care:

- **Drug** availability, cost, and quality.
- Existence of local guidelines and policies.
- Level of training.
- Clarity of responsibilities.
- Budgets.

12.3 What is the optimal model of health care?

At present, the response to this question remains unknown. If success were to be determined by the structure of the health service, the project of improving lung health might never start. However, a number of general points for successful integration of a program into existing models were made:

- Any programme must be comprehensive, involving public and private health care systems.
- All the key stakeholders must be involved, including all levels of health care providers, patients, third-party payers, and non-governmental organisations.
- Local universities are key players as opinion leaders, advocates and through their role as the providers of health care education.
- All programmes need to have built into them a rigorous method of evaluation and audit to ensure implementation and to test local effectiveness.

13. CHANGING BEHAVIOUR AND DRUG AVAILABILITY (Working Group)

13.1 How do we translate guideline documents into modified health care professional behaviour?

Policy makers who control resources need to understand that patients with chronic respiratory diseases are already entering the health care system. With proper diagnostic equipment and appropriate control medications, tuberculosis and acute respiratory infection can be ruled out, eliminating useless spending on expensive courses of antibiotics.

Adaptation of global work at the local level will be essential given the differences in disease epidemiology and health care system structures. All stakeholders must be identified and involved in the adaptation process so that ownership is established. To ensure success, a champion for each stakeholder group must be actively involved. WHO could break down the sets of guidelines into simple disease-specific messages and could provide a sample symptom-based diagnostic algorithm, to be adapted locally for use by the points of entry into the health care system.

An effective starting point for adapting the implementation of a programme to any health system would be the delineation and distribution of tasks among different levels of the health care system, depending on required skills, equipment, and medications.

Optimal training methods will depend on a country's infrastructure and professionals' habits. To be effective, training will normally take place at the work site and will include prompting during patient consultations, supervision, and mentoring. Seminars are not very effective unless the trainers are highly skilled and there is a feedback mechanism enabling participants to measure their habits. Audit questions, which prompt the practitioner to enquire about major risk factors and symptoms of morbidity, and which could be included in each patient's file, could serve as such a feedback mechanism. As computer technology expands to developing countries, computer-assisted learning, as well as email buddy schemes may become possible.

Consumer education, whether by traditional mass media campaigns or by consumer Internet research, promotes change in health care professional behaviour. Patient

education may be standardized by centralizing the function, thus controlling the quality of the information, avoiding duplication of effort, and ensuring consistent messages.

Annex D summarizes these recommendations in a diagram.

13.2 How do we improve availability, accessibility and affordability of medicine in low income countries?

The following recommendations were made by the group or raised during the ensuing discussion:

- 1. All drugs recommended in future WHO guidelines should be included in the WHO Essential Drugs list.
- 2. All such recommended drugs should be available at a target consumer price that represents a reasonable percentage of the country's per capita GNP.
- 3. The WHO Model List is not intended to guide approval and to restrict entry of drugs into the private sector. Countries can establish appropriate mechanisms to meet the needs of patients requiring drugs not included on their national essential drugs list.
- 4. Drug quality control mechanisms need to be established in countries that lack a quality control laboratory.
- 5. WHO should encourage the production of inexpensive, good quality spirometers.
- 6. Countries with prescribing practices that differ from internationally accepted guidelines should be encouraged by the World Health Organization to conduct trials to provide evidence of efficacy and cost-efficacy of proposed alternatives.

14. EVALUATION (Working Group)

Where there was already a literature on the cost-effectiveness of a protocol, a local study might be required either because the conditions of the original studies might not hold locally, or for reasons of advocacy, where local demonstration was thought important to change local perceptions of the guidelines. Cost effectiveness of a programme could be altered by a number of local differences:

- Efficacy and toxicity of the principle agents might differ either because of common genetic polymorphisms or because of common local pathology.
- Where efficacy was uniform, effectiveness might be very different because of differences in the distribution of the treatment. This might for instance be much reduced by poor compliance with a therapy that was well received elsewhere (e.g. inhaled medication)
- Where effectiveness was the same, the distribution of both direct and indirect costs might be very different in a different environment.

Standardised surveys of adult lung health would be the ideal method for evaluating future progress in improving global lung health. Precedents, such as the European Community Respiratory Health Survey, exist. Studies would have to be adapted to take account of common pathology in countries where substantial scarring from old tuberculosis was still common. Such studies could also monitor risk factors. Different methods would be

required for studying less common conditions such as cystic fibrosis and carcinoma of the lung.

Auditing health service activity, for instance in emergency rooms, wards and outpatient departments, could provide useful provisional information on community diagnosis and local management practices. Although imperfect, such information could be collected relatively quickly and cheaply. Tools for such activity have been developed but would require adaptation.

15. CONCLUSIONS

- 1. Emerging threats to better global respiratory health are the growing consumption of tobacco and unchecked increase in HIV infection.
- 2. The five leading respiratory diseases account for 17.4% of all deaths and 13.3% of all Disability Adjusted Life Years (DALYs). COPD is the fifth leading cause of death worldwide. The lifetime incidence and recent dramatic increase in prevalence of asthma indicate a growing burden. The global burden of respiratory diseases, including chronic diseases, should be considered when establishing priorities in healthcare.
- 3. Knowledge related to primary prevention is rapidly evolving, with the results of several major studies due within the next 2-3 years. Meanwhile, tobacco use is a major risk factor. Primary and secondary prevention of tobacco dependence is paramount in reducing the morbidity and mortality of chronic respiratory disease.
- 4. There is a continued need for evidence based guidelines for asthma, COPD and other chronic respiratory diseases (e.g. post tuberculous disease, bronchiectasis). Such guidelines should, however, take into account public health considerations like cost-effectiveness and feasibility, particularly in developing countries.
- 5. It is important to break down global guidelines into simpler disease specific guidelines for the health care professional, with integration based upon a symptoms approach. Algorithms with differing levels of complexity may be required depending on the health care system's structure.
- 6. There should be a major emphasis on health care systems introducing audit and feedback as well as primary and continuing education for the prevention and management of chronic respiratory disease. Training should enhance a culture of health promotion, focus on the patient as an individual, and encourage good communication with the patient.
- 7. New studies are needed of relative effectiveness, and where possible, cost effectiveness of therapeutic strategies, in different countries.
- 8. There is an urgent need for good prevalence data for COPD for all countries. To achieve this goal, standardized methods for population-based prevalence studies of COPD need to be developed, to include standardized respiratory symptom

questionnaires, simple pulmonary function tests, and sampling methodology that is feasible for countries at all income levels.

9. Global action is necessary to enhance the availability of essential drugs. Therapies regarded as optimal in future WHO Guidelines should be included on the WHO Essential Drugs List. All essential drugs should be available in every low income country at a maximum consumer price of "x" per cent of that country's per capita GNP.

16. THE NEXT STEPS TO AN ACTION PLAN

It is suggested that a very small working group review the action plan framework outlined below that includes elements suggested from issues identified during the meeting. The review would include prioritization, identification of key stakeholders and collaborators, and the assignment of technical and resource mobilization responsibilities.

16.1 Guidelines and Algorithms

- Identify gaps, including methodology gaps, in existing guidelines and in those still in development; address the gaps. Break the guidelines down into clear and precise recommendations. (See also Drugs and Devices)
- Develop and test an algorithm for respiratory diseases for adults and children established for point of entry into the health care system.

16.2 Drugs and Devices

- Establish internal WHO agreement on processes required for guidelines development (as well as procedures for updating internationally accepted guidelines which currently fail to meet those requirements) such that the resulting document serves as the rational basis for inclusion of drugs in the Essential Drugs List.
- Agree on approaches to improve accessibility to essential drugs for the management of chronic respiratory diseases in low income countries.
- Design and implement comprehensive study of chronic respiratory disease drug and device availability and pricing in lower and middle income countries.
- Identify and prioritize the alternative strategies to be researched, (e.g. oral steroid regimens, alternative drug delivery systems, traditional medicine and alternative therapeutic approaches).

16.3 Epidemiology

Review, propose and validate methodologies used to provide best estimates of burden
for chronic respiratory diseases: establish definitions; set minimum standards and
tools for surveillance; establish diagnostic tests and criteria; determine pulmonary
function tests and sampling feasible for all income levels. Develop a standardized
questionnaire for respiratory symptoms.

 Promote prevalence studies in regions and age groups not well represented by current data.

16.4 Health Systems

- Review literature for methodology for development, introduction and evaluation of algorithms and for guidelines; focus attention on experiences in lower and middle income countries. Establish standard protocols.
- Review issues of accessibility to health care in relation to chronic respiratory disease.
 Identify potential pilot countries (lower and middle income, all regions represented)
 for projects to integrate prevention and management of chronic respiratory diseases
 into primary health care; focus in particular on countries recognizing the "double
 burden of disease" and adjusting their primary health care structure to address one
 or more chronic diseases.

16.5 Tobacco Control

- Determine status of smoking policies in countries where collaborators for chronic respiratory diseases programme have local affiliates; provide affiliates with TFI materials to initiate and support policy changes.
- Ensure that all primary health care facilities, respiratory health clinics and hospitals are smoke-free.
- Implement evidence-based brief smoking cessation interventions in all settings where the respiratory patient comes into contact with a health professional.

16.6 Environment

- Review cooking and heating technologies to identify those that could reduce exposure to household air pollution.
- Identify and evaluate from a global respiratory health focus, key occupational hazards
 to respiratory health of public health interest and the proposed corrective measures.
- Review and monitor scientific evidence of health effects associated with air pollution, with a special focus on household air pollution. Develop strategy and protocol to implement data collection on health effects related to air pollution; establish regional and national databases.



France

WHO Consultation on the Development of a Comprehensive Approach for the Prevention and Control of Chronic Respiratory Diseases

11-13 January 2001, Geneva

Annex A: List of Participants

Professor Nadia Ait-Khaled Chief of Asthma Division International Union Against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease 68, Boulevard Saint-Michel 75006 Paris

Tel: (33) 1 44 32 03 69 Fax: (33) 1 43 29 90 87 E-mail: NAitkhaled@iuatld.org

Professor Carlos Baena-Cagnani Head, Division of Allergy and Respiratory Medicine Department of Paediatrics Hospital Infantil Cordoba Santa Rosa 381 5000 Cordoba Argentina

Tel: (54) 351 423 0886 Fax: (54) 351 425 9644 E-mail: <u>baena@powernet.com.ar</u>

Professor Sergio Bonini
Chair, Allergology and
Clinical Immunology
Second University of Naples
Institute of Experimental Medicine
Italian National Research Council
Presidency European Academy of
Allergology and Clinical Immunology
Via Ugo de Carolis 59
00161 Rome
Italy
Tel: (30) 06 3534 6840

Tel: (39) 06 3534 6840 Fax: (39) 06 3540 3017 E-mail: se.bonini-cnr@flashnet.it Professor Jean Bousquet
Chairman – GINA
Services des Maladies Respiratoires
Hôpital Arnaud de Villeneuve
371 ave. Doyen Gaston Giraud
F-34295 Montepellier Cédex 5
Tel: (33) 467 41 67 00
Fax: (33) 467 41 67 01
E-mail: jean.bousquet@wanadoo.fr

Professor Sonia Buist
Head, Pulmonary & Critical
Care Medicine
Oregon Health Sciences University
Mail Code UHN 67
3181 SW Sam Jackson Park Rd
Portland, OR 97201
Tel: +(1) 503 494 7680
Fax: +(1) 503 494 6670
E-mail: buists@ohsu.edu

Professor P.G. J. Burney
Department of Public Health Sciences
5th Floor
Capital House
42 Weston Street
London SE1 3QD
UK
Tel: (44) 020 7848 6609
Fax: (44) 020 7848 6605

Professor John Dodge Big Wood Barn Gwehelog Usk Momouthshire NP15 1RD Wales, UK

E-mail: j.a.dodge@btinternet.com

E-mail: Peter.burney@kcl.ac.uk

11-13 January 2001, Geneva

Professor Abdallah El Meziane Services de Maladies Respiratoire Hôpital IBN Rochd Rue des Hôpitaux Casablanca Maroc

Tel: +212 22 22 8657 Fax: +212 22 22 2355

Dr Suzanne S. Hurd P O Box 34262 Bethesda, MD 20817 USA

Tel: (1) 301-926-1938 Fax: (1) 301-869-3768 E-mail: shurd@prodigy.net

Professor Allen P. Kaplan
Medical University of South Carolina
(MUSC)
Department of Medicine
Division Pulmonary, Allergy,
Critical Care
P O Box 250623
96, Jonathan Lucas Street
Charleston, SC 29425
USA

Tel: (1) 843 792 2468 or 843 820 1035

Fax: (1) 843 792 0732 E-mail: <u>kaplana@musc.edu</u>

Professor Charles K. Naspitz Department of Pediatrics Rua Sergipe, 634-13A Sao Paulo, SP 01243-000 Brazil Tel: (55 11) 3661 8186 Fax: (55 11) 3663 0738 E-mail: "Charles K. Naspitz" charles@naspitz.com.br Dr Martyn R. Partridge Consultant Physician Chest Clinic Whipps Cross Hospital London E11 1NR United Kingdom Tel: +44 20 8535 6675 Fax: +44 20 8535 6709 Mrp@wxhchest.demon.co.uk

Professor Romain Pauwels
Director of the WHO Collaborating
Centre for the
Management of Asthma and COPD
University of Ghent
Department of Respiratory Diseases
De Pintelaan 185
B-9000 Ghent
Belgium
Tel: (32) 9 240 2611
Fax: (32) 9 240 2341

E-mails: Romain.Pauwels@rug.ac.be

Professor Onno van Schayck

University of Maastricht
Department of General Practice
P O Box 616
6200 MD Maastricht
The Netherlands
Tel: (3) 43 388 2314
Fax: (31) 43 388 4225
E-mail: annemarie.korsten@hag.unimaas.nl

Dr Kamel Shadpour Senior Expert Primary Health Care Department Ministry of Health & Medical Education Tehran, Islamic Republic of Iran Tel: (98) 21 670 1746 (Office)

Fax: (98) 21 670 1812 (Office) E-mail: shadpour@hbi.dmr.or.ir

11-13 January 2001, Geneva

Dr Raj Singh Senior Consultant Physician S-82 Annanagar Chennai (Madras) 600 040 India

Fax: (91) 44 6203781

E-mail: rajbsingh@hotmail.com

Dato' Dr Jeyaindaran Sinnadurai Consultant Pulmonary and Critical Care Physician Department of Medicine Hospital Kuala Lumpur Jalan Pahang 50586 Kuala Lumpur

Malaysia

Tel (O): 60 3 2690 5175 Tel (H): 60 3 7956 9296 Fax: 60 3 706 5691

Email: jc68556@glaxowellcome.co.uk (Email address and fax for Asthma

Society of Malaysia)

Professor Wan-Cheng Tan Department of Medicine Lower Kent Ridge Road, 119074 Singapore

Tel: (65) 772 4352 Fax: (65) 779 4112

E-mail: Mdctanwc@nus.edu.sg

Professor Neil White **UCT Lung Institute** George Street Mowbray 7700 P O Box 34560 Groote Schuur 7937 South Africa

Tel: +27 (021) 406 6850 Fax: +27 (021) 406 6851 Email: Nwhite@uctgsh1.uct.ac.za Professor Nan-Shan Zhong Guangzhou Institute of Respiratory 151 Yan Jing Road Guangzhou, 510120 Peoples Republic of China Tel: (86) 20 83 34 10 17 Fax: (86) 20 83 35 03 63

WHO Secretariat

Dr Derek Yach **Executive Director** Noncommunicable Diseases and Mental Health (EXD, NMH) Yachd@who.int

E-mail: guangvizhqw@163.com

Dr Ala Alwan Director Management of Noncommunicable Diseases (DIR, NMH/NCM) Alwana@who.int

Dr Rafael Bengoa Director Health Care for Chronic Diseases (DIR, NMH/CCH) Bengoar@who.int

Dr Ruth Bonita Director Surveillance for Chronic Diseases (DIR, NMH/CCS) Bonitar@who.int

Dr Nikolai Khaltaev Secretary Chronic Respiratory Diseases and Arthritis (NMH/MNC/CRA) Khaltaevn@who.int

11-13 January 2001, Geneva

Dr Bruce Pfleger Chronic Respiratory Diseases and Arthritis (NMH/MNC/CRA) Pflegerb@who.int

Ms Judy Canny Chronic Respiratory Diseases and Arthritis (NMH/MNC/CRA) Cannyj@who.int

Ms Theresa Gruber-Tapsoba Chronic Respiratory Diseases and Arthritis (NMH/MNC/CRA) Grubertapsobat@who.int

Dr Robert Scherpbier
Task Manager
Adult Lung Health Initiative
Tuberculosis Strategy and Operations
(CDS/STB/TBS)
Scherpbierr@who.int

Dr Kersten Gutschmidt Occupational and Environmental Health (SDE/PHE/OEH) Gutschmidtk@who.int

Dr D. Schwela
Occupational and
Environmental Health
(SDE/PHE/OEH)
Schwelad@who.int

Dr Y. Von Schirnding (SDE/HSD/GCP) <u>Vonschirndingy@who.int</u>

Ms N. Macklai Tobacco Free Initiative (NMH/TFI) Macklain@who.int Dr Eduardo Sabate Epidemiology and Burden of Disease (EIP/GPE/EBD) Sabatee@who.int

Observers

Mr Archie Turnbull
Executive Manager
European Respiratory Society
ERS Headquarters Lausanne
1, Boulevard de Grancy
1006 Lausanne
Switzerland
Tel: +41 21 613 26 80

Fax: +41 21 613 26 80

E-mail: archie.turnbull@ersnet.org

Dr Josep Roca
President
European Respiratory Society
Servei de Pneumologia
Hospital Clinic
Villarroel 170
E-08036 Barcelona
Spain

Tel: +34 932 275 540 Fax: +34 932 275 455 Email: roca@medicina.ub.es

Professor Claudio Donner Secretary General European Respiratory Society Fondazione S. Maugeri, IRCCS Divisione di Pneumologia Centro Medico di Riabilitazione Via Revislate 13 I-28010 Veruno Italy Tel: +39 032 2884 973/982

Fax: +39 032 2884 776 Email: <u>cfdonner@fsm.it</u>

11-13 January 2001, Geneva

Professor William MacNee
Programme Committee Chairman
European Respiratory Society
Respiratory Medicine Unit
ELEGI Colt Research Laboratories
Wilkie Building, Medical School
Teviot Walk
Edinburgh EH8 9AG

United Kingdom
Tel: +44 131 651 1435
Fax: +44 131 651 1558
Email: w.macnee@ed.ac.uk

D. Robert McCaffree, MD, FCCP
Past President, American College
of Chest Physicians
Professor of Medicine
Oklahoma University Health
Sciences Center
VA Medical Center
921 NE 13th Street
Oklahoma City, OK 73104

Tel: +1 (405) 270 5135 Fax: +1 (405) 270 1560

Email: robert-mccaffree@ouhsc.edu

Alvin Lever, MA, FCCP (Hon) CEO, American College of Chest Physicians 3300 Dundee Road Northbrook, IL 60062-2348

Tel: +1 (847) 498 8300 Fax: +1 (847) 498 5460 Email: <u>alever@chestnet.org</u>

David H. Eubanks, EdD, RRT VP, Education & Special Projects American College of Chest Physicians 3300 Dundee Road Northbrook, IL 60062-2348 USA

Tel: +1 (847) 498 8324 Fax: +1 (847) 498 5460 Email: deubanks@chestnet.org Ms Liliane Heidet
International Cystic Fibrosis
(Mucoviscidose) Association
124, chemin De-La-Montagne
CH-1224 Chêne-Bougeries
Switzerland
Tel: +41 (0)22 348 9452
Email: liliane.heidet@bluewin.ch

Dr Christopher Compton (unable to attend) Representative, International Federation of Pharmaceutical Association (IFPMA) **Group Director** Pulmonary-metabolism Therapeutic Team GlaxoSmithKline Pharmaceuticals New Frontiers Science Park (South) The Pinnacles Harlow, CM19 5AW United Kingdom Tel: +44 1279 644 715 Fax: +44 1279 644 976 Email: Christopher H Compton@sbphrd.com

William J. Martin II, MD
President and CEO
American Thoracic Society
Floyd & Reba Smith Professor of
Medicine
Indiana University Health Care
1001 West 10th Street, OPW 425
Indianapolis, IN 46202
USA

Tel: +1 (317) 630 8445 Fax: +1 (317) 630 6386 Email: wjmartin@iupui.edu

18



11-13 January 2001, Geneva

Annex B: Small Working Groups

GAPS, RELEVANCE AND INTEGRATING DIFFERENT GUIDELINES

Jean Bousquet (Chair)

Wan-Cheng Tan (Rapporteur)

Sergio Bonini

Sonia Buist

Carlos Baena-Cagnani

Judy Canny

Claudio Donner

Suzanne S. Hurd

Nikolai Khaltaev

William MacNee

Charles K. Naspitz

Romain Pauwels

Josep Roca

Robert Scherpbier

Archie Turnbull

Nan-Shan Zhong

PREVENTION, OUTCOMES AND HEALTH CARE MODELS

Peter G.J. Burney (Chair)

Raphael Bengoa

John Dodge

William Martin

Bruce Pfleger

Neil White

CHANGING BEHAVIOUR AND DRUG AVAILABILITY

Onno van Schayck (Chair)

Martyn Partridge (Rapporteur)

Nadia Ait-Khaled

Ala Alwan

Abdallah El Meziane

Dave Eubanks

Theresa Gruber-Tapsoba

Alvin Lever

Robert McCaffree

Kamel Shadpour

Raj Singh

Jeyaindran Sinnadurai

EVALUATION

Peter Burney (Chair)

Wan-Cheng Tan (Rapporteur)

Sonia Buist

Judy Canny

Suzanne Hurd

Nikolai Khaltaev

Annex C: The Challenge for Respiratory Specialists

The Wide Variety of Diseases Causing Respiratory Symptoms

Airway Diseases	Restrictive disorders	Other Disorders
Localised	Lung Diseases	 Pulmonary vascular disorders
 Vocal cord paresis 	•Sarcoidosis	•Sleep apnoea
 Laryngeal carcinoma 	•Asbestosis	Infections
 Thyroid enlargement 	 Extrinsic allergic alveolitis 	•Tuberculosis
 Vocal cord dysfunction 	 Fibrosing alveolitis 	•Infective Bronchitis
 Relapsing polychondritis 	 Eosinophilic pneumonia 	•Pneumonia
•Tumours	Pleural Diseases	•Empyema
 Post tracheostomy stenosis 	•Effusions	
•Foreign bodies	Pneumothorax	
 Bronchopulmonary dysplasia 	Chest Wall/Muscle Disease	
Generalised	•Scoliosis	
•Asthma	 Respiratory muscle weakness 	
•COPD	Other	
•Bronchiectasis	•Obesity	
•Cystic Fibrosis		
•Obliterative Bronchiolitis	70	

Obliterative Bronchiolitis

Annex C: The Challenge for Respiratory Specialists (cont.) Assessing the Breathless Patient

- Cardio-respiratory diseases in their early stages
- Otherwise occult pulmonary emboli
- Systemic diseases (anaemia, hyperthyroidism)
- Respiratory muscle weakness
- Upper airway obstruction and central airway tumours with normal chest X-ray
- Intermittent disorders, e.g. asthma
- Obesity
- Hyperventilation
- Psychogenic dyspnoea

